

## CHAPTER 207

---

**PROFESSIONS AND OCCUPATIONS**

---

**HOUSE BILL 07-1266**

BY REPRESENTATIVE(S) McGihon, Cerbo, Green, Kefalas, McFadyen, Mitchell V., Roberts, Romanoff, Labuda, and Todd;  
also SENATOR(S) Shaffer, Boyd, Brophy, Groff, May R., Morse, Sandoval, and Schwartz.

**AN ACT**

**CONCERNING THE ENACTMENT OF THE "REVISED UNIFORM ANATOMICAL GIFT ACT".**

*Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the State of Colorado:*

**SECTION 1.** Part 1 of article 34 of title 12, Colorado Revised Statutes, is REPEALED AND REENACTED, WITH AMENDMENTS, to read:

**PART 1**  
**REVISED UNIFORM ANATOMICAL GIFT ACT**

**12-34-101. Short title.** THIS PART 1 SHALL BE KNOWN AND MAY BE CITED AS THE "REVISED UNIFORM ANATOMICAL GIFT ACT".

**12-34-102. Definitions.** IN THIS PART 1:

(1) "ADULT" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL WHO IS AT LEAST EIGHTEEN YEARS OF AGE.

(2) "AGENT" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL:

(A) AUTHORIZED TO MAKE HEALTH-CARE DECISIONS ON THE PRINCIPAL'S BEHALF BY A POWER OF ATTORNEY FOR HEALTH CARE; OR

(B) EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT ON THE PRINCIPAL'S BEHALF BY ANY OTHER RECORD SIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL.

(3) "ANATOMICAL GIFT" MEANS A DONATION OF ALL OR PART OF A HUMAN BODY, TO TAKE EFFECT AFTER THE DONOR'S DEATH, FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION, THERAPY, RESEARCH, OR EDUCATION.

---

*Capital letters indicate new material added to existing statutes; dashes through words indicate deletions from existing statutes and such material not part of act.*

(4) "DECEDENT" MEANS A DECEASED INDIVIDUAL WHOSE BODY OR PART IS OR MAY BE THE SOURCE OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT. THE TERM INCLUDES A STILLBORN INFANT AND, SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS IMPOSED BY LAW OTHER THAN THIS PART 1, A FETUS.

(5) "DISINTERESTED WITNESS" MEANS A WITNESS OTHER THAN THE SPOUSE, CHILD, PARENT, SIBLING, GRANDCHILD, GRANDPARENT, OR GUARDIAN OF THE INDIVIDUAL WHO MAKES, AMENDS, REVOKES, OR REFUSES TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT, OR ANOTHER ADULT WHO EXHIBITED SPECIAL CARE AND CONCERN FOR THE INDIVIDUAL. THE TERM DOES NOT INCLUDE A PERSON TO WHICH AN ANATOMICAL GIFT COULD PASS UNDER SECTION 12-34-111.

(6) "DOCUMENT OF GIFT" MEANS A DONOR CARD OR OTHER RECORD USED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT. THE TERM INCLUDES A STATEMENT OR SYMBOL ON A DRIVER'S LICENSE, IDENTIFICATION CARD, OR DONOR REGISTRY.

(7) "DONOR" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL WHOSE BODY OR PART IS THE SUBJECT OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT.

(8) "DONOR REGISTRY" MEANS A DATABASE THAT CONTAINS RECORDS OF ANATOMICAL GIFTS AND AMENDMENTS TO OR REVOCATIONS OF ANATOMICAL GIFTS.

(9) "DRIVER'S LICENSE" MEANS A LICENSE OR PERMIT ISSUED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE TO OPERATE A VEHICLE, WHETHER OR NOT CONDITIONS ARE ATTACHED TO THE LICENSE OR PERMIT.

(10) "EYE BANK" MEANS A PERSON THAT IS LICENSED, ACCREDITED, OR REGULATED UNDER FEDERAL OR STATE LAW TO ENGAGE IN THE RECOVERY, SCREENING, TESTING, PROCESSING, STORAGE, OR DISTRIBUTION OF HUMAN EYES OR PORTIONS OF HUMAN EYES.

(11) "GUARDIAN" MEANS A PERSON APPOINTED BY A COURT TO MAKE DECISIONS REGARDING THE SUPPORT, CARE, EDUCATION, HEALTH, OR WELFARE OF AN INDIVIDUAL. THE TERM DOES NOT INCLUDE A GUARDIAN AD LITEM.

(12) "HOSPITAL" MEANS A FACILITY LICENSED AS A HOSPITAL UNDER THE LAW OF ANY STATE OR A FACILITY OPERATED AS A HOSPITAL BY THE UNITED STATES, A STATE, OR A SUBDIVISION OF A STATE.

(13) "IDENTIFICATION CARD" MEANS AN IDENTIFICATION CARD ISSUED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OR THE DEPARTMENT'S AGENT.

(14) "KNOW" MEANS TO HAVE ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE.

(15) "MINOR" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL WHO IS UNDER EIGHTEEN YEARS OF AGE.

(16) "ORGAN PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION" MEANS A PERSON DESIGNATED BY THE SECRETARY OF THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES AS AN ORGAN PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION.

(17) "PARENT" MEANS A PARENT WHOSE PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE NOT BEEN TERMINATED.

(18) "PART" MEANS AN ORGAN, AN EYE, OR TISSUE OF A HUMAN BEING. THE TERM DOES NOT INCLUDE THE WHOLE BODY.

(19) "PERSON" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL, CORPORATION, BUSINESS TRUST, ESTATE, TRUST, PARTNERSHIP, LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, ASSOCIATION, JOINT VENTURE, PUBLIC CORPORATION, GOVERNMENT OR GOVERNMENTAL SUBDIVISION, AGENCY, OR INSTRUMENTALITY, OR ANY OTHER LEGAL OR COMMERCIAL ENTITY.

(20) "PHYSICIAN" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL AUTHORIZED TO PRACTICE MEDICINE OR OSTEOPATHY UNDER THE LAW OF ANY STATE.

(21) "PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION" MEANS AN EYE BANK, ORGAN PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION, OR TISSUE BANK.

(22) "PROSPECTIVE DONOR" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL WHO IS DEAD OR NEAR DEATH AND HAS BEEN DETERMINED BY A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION TO HAVE A PART THAT COULD BE MEDICALLY SUITABLE FOR TRANSPLANTATION, THERAPY, RESEARCH, OR EDUCATION. THE TERM DOES NOT INCLUDE AN INDIVIDUAL WHO HAS MADE A REFUSAL.

(23) "REASONABLY AVAILABLE" MEANS ABLE TO BE CONTACTED BY A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION WITHOUT UNDUE EFFORT AND WILLING AND ABLE TO ACT IN A TIMELY MANNER CONSISTENT WITH EXISTING MEDICAL CRITERIA NECESSARY FOR THE MAKING OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT.

(24) "RECIPIENT" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL INTO WHOSE BODY A DECEDENT'S PART HAS BEEN OR IS INTENDED TO BE TRANSPLANTED.

(25) "RECORD" MEANS INFORMATION THAT IS INSCRIBED ON A TANGIBLE MEDIUM OR THAT IS STORED IN AN ELECTRONIC OR OTHER MEDIUM AND IS RETRIEVABLE IN PERCEIVABLE FORM.

(26) "REFUSAL" MEANS A RECORD CREATED UNDER SECTION 12-34-107 THAT EXPRESSLY STATES AN INTENT TO BAR OTHER PERSONS FROM MAKING AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF AN INDIVIDUAL'S BODY OR PART.

(27) "SIGN" MEANS, WITH THE PRESENT INTENT TO AUTHENTICATE OR ADOPT A RECORD:

(A) TO EXECUTE OR ADOPT A TANGIBLE SYMBOL; OR

(B) TO ATTACH TO OR LOGICALLY ASSOCIATE WITH THE RECORD AN ELECTRONIC SYMBOL, SOUND, OR PROCESS.

(28) "STATE" MEANS A STATE OF THE UNITED STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, THE UNITED STATES VIRGIN ISLANDS, OR ANY TERRITORY OR INSULAR POSSESSION SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

(29) "TECHNICIAN" MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL DETERMINED TO BE QUALIFIED TO REMOVE OR PROCESS PARTS BY AN APPROPRIATE ORGANIZATION THAT IS LICENSED, ACCREDITED, OR REGULATED UNDER FEDERAL OR STATE LAW. THE TERM INCLUDES AN ENUCLEATOR.

(30) "TISSUE" MEANS A PORTION OF THE HUMAN BODY OTHER THAN AN ORGAN OR AN EYE. THE TERM DOES NOT INCLUDE BLOOD UNLESS THE BLOOD IS DONATED FOR THE PURPOSE OF RESEARCH OR EDUCATION.

(31) "TISSUE BANK" MEANS A PERSON THAT IS LICENSED, ACCREDITED, OR REGULATED UNDER FEDERAL OR STATE LAW TO ENGAGE IN THE RECOVERY, SCREENING, TESTING, PROCESSING, STORAGE, OR DISTRIBUTION OF TISSUE.

(32) "TRANSPLANT HOSPITAL" MEANS A HOSPITAL THAT FURNISHES ORGAN TRANSPLANTS AND OTHER MEDICAL AND SURGICAL SPECIALTY SERVICES REQUIRED FOR THE CARE OF TRANSPLANT PATIENTS.

**12-34-103. Applicability.** THIS PART 1 APPLIES TO AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OR AMENDMENT TO, REVOCATION OF, OR REFUSAL TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT, WHENEVER MADE.

**12-34-104. Who may make anatomical gift before donor's death.** SUBJECT TO SECTION 12-34-108, AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF A DONOR'S BODY OR PART MAY BE MADE DURING THE LIFE OF THE DONOR FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION, THERAPY, RESEARCH, OR EDUCATION IN THE MANNER PROVIDED IN SECTION 12-34-105 BY:

(1) THE DONOR, IF THE DONOR IS AN ADULT OR IF THE DONOR IS A MINOR AND IS:

(A) EMANCIPATED; OR

(B) AUTHORIZED UNDER STATE LAW TO APPLY FOR A DRIVER'S LICENSE BECAUSE THE DONOR IS AT LEAST SIXTEEN YEARS OF AGE;

(2) AN AGENT OF THE DONOR, UNLESS THE POWER OF ATTORNEY FOR HEALTH CARE OR OTHER RECORD PROHIBITS THE AGENT FROM MAKING AN ANATOMICAL GIFT;

(3) A PARENT OF THE DONOR, IF THE DONOR IS AN UNEMANCIPATED MINOR; OR

(4) THE DONOR'S GUARDIAN.

**12-34-105. Manner of making anatomical gift before donor's death.** (a) A DONOR MAY MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT:

(1) BY AUTHORIZING A STATEMENT OR SYMBOL INDICATING THAT THE DONOR HAS MADE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT TO BE IMPRINTED ON THE DONOR'S DRIVER'S LICENSE OR IDENTIFICATION CARD;

(2) IN A WILL;

(3) DURING A TERMINAL ILLNESS OR INJURY OF THE DONOR, BY ANY FORM OF

COMMUNICATION ADDRESSED TO AT LEAST TWO ADULTS, AT LEAST ONE OF WHOM IS A DISINTERESTED WITNESS; OR

(4) AS PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION (b) OF THIS SECTION.

(b) A DONOR OR OTHER PERSON AUTHORIZED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT UNDER SECTION 12-34-104 MAY MAKE A GIFT BY A DONOR CARD OR OTHER RECORD SIGNED BY THE DONOR OR OTHER PERSON MAKING THE GIFT OR BY AUTHORIZING THAT A STATEMENT OR SYMBOL INDICATING THAT THE DONOR HAS MADE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT BE INCLUDED ON A DONOR REGISTRY. IF THE DONOR OR OTHER PERSON IS PHYSICALLY UNABLE TO SIGN A RECORD, THE RECORD MAY BE SIGNED BY ANOTHER INDIVIDUAL AT THE DIRECTION OF THE DONOR OR OTHER PERSON AND MUST:

(1) BE WITNESSED BY AT LEAST TWO ADULTS, AT LEAST ONE OF WHOM IS A DISINTERESTED WITNESS, WHO HAVE SIGNED AT THE REQUEST OF THE DONOR OR THE OTHER PERSON; AND

(2) STATE THAT IT HAS BEEN SIGNED AND WITNESSED AS PROVIDED IN PARAGRAPH (1) OF THIS SUBSECTION (b).

(c) REVOCATION, SUSPENSION, EXPIRATION, OR CANCELLATION OF A DRIVER'S LICENSE OR IDENTIFICATION CARD UPON WHICH AN ANATOMICAL GIFT IS INDICATED DOES NOT INVALIDATE THE GIFT.

(d) AN ANATOMICAL GIFT MADE BY WILL TAKES EFFECT UPON THE DONOR'S DEATH WHETHER OR NOT THE WILL IS PROBATED. INVALIDATION OF THE WILL AFTER THE DONOR'S DEATH DOES NOT INVALIDATE THE GIFT.

**12-34-106. Amending or revoking anatomical gift before donor's death.**

(a) SUBJECT TO SECTION 12-34-108, A DONOR OR OTHER PERSON AUTHORIZED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT UNDER SECTION 12-34-104 MAY AMEND OR REVOKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT BY:

(1) A RECORD SIGNED BY:

(A) THE DONOR;

(B) THE OTHER PERSON; OR

(C) SUBJECT TO SUBSECTION (b) OF THIS SECTION, ANOTHER INDIVIDUAL ACTING AT THE DIRECTION OF THE DONOR OR THE OTHER PERSON IF THE DONOR OR OTHER PERSON IS PHYSICALLY UNABLE TO SIGN; OR

(2) A LATER-EXECUTED DOCUMENT OF GIFT THAT AMENDS OR REVOKES A PREVIOUS ANATOMICAL GIFT OR PORTION OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT, EITHER EXPRESSLY OR BY INCONSISTENCY.

(b) A RECORD SIGNED PURSUANT TO SUBPARAGRAPH (C) OF PARAGRAPH (1) OF SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION MUST:

(1) BE WITNESSED BY AT LEAST TWO ADULTS, AT LEAST ONE OF WHOM IS A DISINTERESTED WITNESS, WHO HAVE SIGNED AT THE REQUEST OF THE DONOR OR THE OTHER PERSON; AND

(2) STATE THAT IT HAS BEEN SIGNED AND WITNESSED AS PROVIDED IN PARAGRAPH (1) OF THIS SUBSECTION (b).

(c) SUBJECT TO SECTION 12-34-108, A DONOR OR OTHER PERSON AUTHORIZED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT UNDER SECTION 12-34-104 MAY REVOKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT BY THE DESTRUCTION OR CANCELLATION OF THE DOCUMENT OF GIFT, OR THE PORTION OF THE DOCUMENT OF GIFT USED TO MAKE THE GIFT, WITH THE INTENT TO REVOKE THE GIFT.

(d) A DONOR MAY AMEND OR REVOKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT THAT WAS NOT MADE IN A WILL BY ANY FORM OF COMMUNICATION DURING A TERMINAL ILLNESS OR INJURY ADDRESSED TO AT LEAST TWO ADULTS, AT LEAST ONE OF WHOM IS A DISINTERESTED WITNESS.

(e) A DONOR WHO MAKES AN ANATOMICAL GIFT IN A WILL MAY AMEND OR REVOKE THE GIFT IN THE MANNER PROVIDED FOR AMENDMENT OR REVOCATION OF WILLS OR AS PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION.

**12-34-107. Refusal to make anatomical gift - effect of refusal.** (a) AN INDIVIDUAL MAY REFUSE TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE INDIVIDUAL'S BODY OR PART BY:

(1) A RECORD SIGNED BY:

(A) THE INDIVIDUAL; OR

(B) SUBJECT TO SUBSECTION (b) OF THIS SECTION, ANOTHER INDIVIDUAL ACTING AT THE DIRECTION OF THE INDIVIDUAL IF THE INDIVIDUAL IS PHYSICALLY UNABLE TO SIGN;

(2) THE INDIVIDUAL'S WILL, WHETHER OR NOT THE WILL IS ADMITTED TO PROBATE OR INVALIDATED AFTER THE INDIVIDUAL'S DEATH; OR

(3) ANY FORM OF COMMUNICATION MADE BY THE INDIVIDUAL DURING THE INDIVIDUAL'S TERMINAL ILLNESS OR INJURY ADDRESSED TO AT LEAST TWO ADULTS, AT LEAST ONE OF WHOM IS A DISINTERESTED WITNESS.

(b) A RECORD SIGNED PURSUANT TO SUBPARAGRAPH (B) OF PARAGRAPH (1) OF SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION MUST:

(1) BE WITNESSED BY AT LEAST TWO ADULTS, AT LEAST ONE OF WHOM IS A DISINTERESTED WITNESS, WHO HAVE SIGNED AT THE REQUEST OF THE INDIVIDUAL; AND

(2) STATE THAT IT HAS BEEN SIGNED AND WITNESSED AS PROVIDED IN PARAGRAPH (1) OF THIS SUBSECTION (b).

(c) AN INDIVIDUAL WHO HAS MADE A REFUSAL MAY AMEND OR REVOKE THE REFUSAL:

(1) IN THE MANNER PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION FOR MAKING A REFUSAL;

(2) BY SUBSEQUENTLY MAKING AN ANATOMICAL GIFT PURSUANT TO SECTION 12-34-105 THAT IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE REFUSAL; OR

(3) BY DESTROYING OR CANCELING THE RECORD EVIDENCING THE REFUSAL, OR THE PORTION OF THE RECORD USED TO MAKE THE REFUSAL, WITH THE INTENT TO REVOKE THE REFUSAL.

(d) EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN SECTION 12-34-108 (h), IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EXPRESS, CONTRARY INDICATION BY THE INDIVIDUAL SET FORTH IN THE REFUSAL, AN INDIVIDUAL'S UNREVOKED REFUSAL TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE INDIVIDUAL'S BODY OR PART BARS ALL OTHER PERSONS FROM MAKING AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE INDIVIDUAL'S BODY OR PART.

**12-34-108. Preclusive effect of anatomical gift, amendment, or revocation.**

(a) EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION (g) OF THIS SECTION AND SUBJECT TO SUBSECTION (f) OF THIS SECTION, IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EXPRESS, CONTRARY INDICATION BY THE DONOR, A PERSON OTHER THAN THE DONOR IS BARRED FROM MAKING, AMENDING, OR REVOKING AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF A DONOR'S BODY OR PART IF THE DONOR MADE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE DONOR'S BODY OR PART UNDER SECTION 12-34-105 OR AN AMENDMENT TO AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE DONOR'S BODY OR PART UNDER SECTION 12-34-106.

(b) A DONOR'S REVOCATION OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE DONOR'S BODY OR PART UNDER SECTION 12-34-106 IS NOT A REFUSAL AND DOES NOT BAR ANOTHER PERSON SPECIFIED IN SECTION 12-34-104 OR 12-34-109 FROM MAKING AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE DONOR'S BODY OR PART UNDER SECTION 12-34-105 OR 12-34-110.

(c) IF A PERSON OTHER THAN THE DONOR MAKES AN UNREVOKED ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE DONOR'S BODY OR PART UNDER SECTION 12-34-105 OR AN AMENDMENT TO AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE DONOR'S BODY OR PART UNDER SECTION 12-34-106, ANOTHER PERSON MAY NOT MAKE, AMEND, OR REVOKE THE GIFT OF THE DONOR'S BODY OR PART UNDER SECTION 12-34-110.

(d) A REVOCATION OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF A DONOR'S BODY OR PART UNDER SECTION 12-34-106 BY A PERSON OTHER THAN THE DONOR DOES NOT BAR ANOTHER PERSON FROM MAKING AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE BODY OR PART UNDER SECTION 12-34-105 OR 12-34-110.

(e) IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EXPRESS, CONTRARY INDICATION BY THE DONOR OR OTHER PERSON AUTHORIZED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT UNDER SECTION 12-34-104, AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF A PART IS NEITHER A REFUSAL TO GIVE ANOTHER PART NOR A LIMITATION ON THE MAKING OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF ANOTHER PART AT A LATER TIME BY THE DONOR OR ANOTHER PERSON.

(f) IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EXPRESS, CONTRARY INDICATION BY THE DONOR OR OTHER PERSON AUTHORIZED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT UNDER SECTION 12-34-104, AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF A PART FOR ONE OR MORE OF THE PURPOSES SET FORTH IN SECTION 12-34-104 IS NOT A LIMITATION ON THE MAKING OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE PART FOR ANY OF THE OTHER PURPOSES BY THE DONOR OR ANY OTHER PERSON UNDER SECTION 12-34-105 OR 12-34-110.

(g) IF A DONOR WHO IS AN UNEMANCIPATED MINOR DIES, A PARENT OF THE DONOR WHO IS REASONABLY AVAILABLE MAY REVOKE OR AMEND AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF THE DONOR'S BODY OR PART.

(h) IF AN UNEMANCIPATED MINOR WHO SIGNED A REFUSAL DIES, A PARENT OF THE MINOR WHO IS REASONABLY AVAILABLE MAY REVOKE THE MINOR'S REFUSAL.

**12-34-109. Who may make anatomical gift of decedent's body or part.**

(a) SUBJECT TO SUBSECTIONS (b) AND (c) OF THIS SECTION AND UNLESS BARRED BY SECTION 12-34-107 OR 12-34-108, AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF A DECEDENT'S BODY OR PART FOR PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION, THERAPY, RESEARCH, OR EDUCATION MAY BE MADE BY ANY MEMBER OF THE FOLLOWING CLASSES OF PERSONS WHO IS REASONABLY AVAILABLE, IN THE ORDER OF PRIORITY LISTED:

(1) AN AGENT OF THE DECEDENT AT THE TIME OF DEATH WHO COULD HAVE MADE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT UNDER SECTION 12-34-104 (2) IMMEDIATELY BEFORE THE DECEDENT'S DEATH;

(2) THE SPOUSE OF THE DECEDENT;

(3) ADULT CHILDREN OF THE DECEDENT;

(4) PARENTS OF THE DECEDENT;

(5) ADULT SIBLINGS OF THE DECEDENT;

(6) ADULT GRANDCHILDREN OF THE DECEDENT;

(7) GRANDPARENTS OF THE DECEDENT;

(8) AN ADULT WHO EXHIBITED SPECIAL CARE AND CONCERN FOR THE DECEDENT;

(9) THE PERSONS WHO WERE ACTING AS THE GUARDIANS OF THE PERSON OF THE DECEDENT AT THE TIME OF DEATH; AND

(10) ANY OTHER PERSON HAVING THE AUTHORITY TO DISPOSE OF THE DECEDENT'S BODY.

(b) IF THERE IS MORE THAN ONE MEMBER OF A CLASS LISTED IN PARAGRAPH (1), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7), OR (9) OF SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION ENTITLED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT, AN ANATOMICAL GIFT MAY BE MADE BY A MEMBER OF THE CLASS UNLESS THAT MEMBER OR A PERSON TO WHICH THE GIFT MAY PASS UNDER SECTION 12-34-111 KNOWS OF AN OBJECTION BY ANOTHER MEMBER OF THE CLASS. IF AN OBJECTION IS KNOWN, THE GIFT MAY BE MADE ONLY BY A MAJORITY OF THE

MEMBERS OF THE CLASS WHO ARE REASONABLY AVAILABLE.

(c) A PERSON MAY NOT MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT IF, AT THE TIME OF THE DECEDENT'S DEATH, A PERSON IN A PRIOR CLASS UNDER SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION IS REASONABLY AVAILABLE TO MAKE OR TO OBJECT TO THE MAKING OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT.

**12-34-110. Manner of making, amending, or revoking anatomical gift of decedent's body or part.** (a) A PERSON AUTHORIZED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT UNDER SECTION 12-34-109 MAY MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT BY A DOCUMENT OF GIFT SIGNED BY THE PERSON MAKING THE GIFT OR BY THAT PERSON'S ORAL COMMUNICATION THAT IS ELECTRONICALLY RECORDED OR IS CONTEMPORANEOUSLY REDUCED TO A RECORD AND SIGNED BY THE INDIVIDUAL RECEIVING THE ORAL COMMUNICATION.

(b) SUBJECT TO SUBSECTION (c) OF THIS SECTION, AN ANATOMICAL GIFT BY A PERSON AUTHORIZED UNDER SECTION 12-34-109 MAY BE AMENDED OR REVOKED ORALLY OR IN A RECORD BY ANY MEMBER OF A PRIOR CLASS WHO IS REASONABLY AVAILABLE. IF MORE THAN ONE MEMBER OF THE PRIOR CLASS IS REASONABLY AVAILABLE, THE GIFT MADE BY A PERSON AUTHORIZED UNDER SECTION 12-34-109 MAY BE:

(1) AMENDED ONLY IF A MAJORITY OF THE REASONABLY AVAILABLE MEMBERS AGREE TO THE AMENDING OF THE GIFT; OR

(2) REVOKED ONLY IF A MAJORITY OF THE REASONABLY AVAILABLE MEMBERS AGREE TO THE REVOKING OF THE GIFT OR IF THEY ARE EQUALLY DIVIDED AS TO WHETHER TO REVOKE THE GIFT.

(c) A REVOCATION UNDER SUBSECTION (b) OF THIS SECTION IS EFFECTIVE ONLY IF, BEFORE AN INCISION HAS BEEN MADE TO REMOVE A PART FROM THE DONOR'S BODY OR BEFORE INVASIVE PROCEDURES HAVE BEGUN TO PREPARE THE RECIPIENT, THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION, TRANSPLANT HOSPITAL, OR PHYSICIAN OR TECHNICIAN KNOWS OF THE REVOCATION.

**12-34-111. Persons that may receive anatomical gift - purpose of anatomical gift.** (a) AN ANATOMICAL GIFT MAY BE MADE TO THE FOLLOWING PERSONS NAMED IN THE DOCUMENT OF GIFT:

(1) A HOSPITAL; ACCREDITED MEDICAL SCHOOL, DENTAL SCHOOL, COLLEGE, OR UNIVERSITY; ORGAN PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION; OR OTHER APPROPRIATE PERSON, FOR RESEARCH OR EDUCATION;

(2) SUBJECT TO SUBSECTION (b) OF THIS SECTION, AN INDIVIDUAL DESIGNATED BY THE PERSON MAKING THE ANATOMICAL GIFT IF THE INDIVIDUAL IS THE RECIPIENT OF THE PART;

(3) AN EYE BANK OR TISSUE BANK.

(b) IF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT TO AN INDIVIDUAL UNDER PARAGRAPH (2) OF SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION CANNOT BE TRANSPLANTED INTO THE INDIVIDUAL,

THE PART PASSES IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUBSECTION (g) OF THIS SECTION IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EXPRESS, CONTRARY INDICATION BY THE PERSON MAKING THE ANATOMICAL GIFT.

(c) IF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF ONE OR MORE SPECIFIC PARTS OR OF ALL PARTS IS MADE IN A DOCUMENT OF GIFT THAT DOES NOT NAME A PERSON DESCRIBED IN SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION BUT IDENTIFIES THE PURPOSE FOR WHICH AN ANATOMICAL GIFT MAY BE USED, THE FOLLOWING RULES APPLY:

(1) IF THE PART IS AN EYE AND THE GIFT IS FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, THE GIFT PASSES TO THE APPROPRIATE EYE BANK.

(2) IF THE PART IS TISSUE AND THE GIFT IS FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, THE GIFT PASSES TO THE APPROPRIATE TISSUE BANK.

(3) IF THE PART IS AN ORGAN AND THE GIFT IS FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, THE GIFT PASSES TO THE APPROPRIATE ORGAN PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION AS CUSTODIAN OF THE ORGAN.

(4) IF THE PART IS AN ORGAN, AN EYE, OR TISSUE AND THE GIFT IS FOR THE PURPOSE OF RESEARCH OR EDUCATION, THE GIFT PASSES TO THE APPROPRIATE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION.

(d) FOR THE PURPOSE OF SUBSECTION (c) OF THIS SECTION, IF THERE IS MORE THAN ONE PURPOSE OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT SET FORTH IN THE DOCUMENT OF GIFT BUT THE PURPOSES ARE NOT SET FORTH IN ANY PRIORITY, THE GIFT MUST BE USED FOR TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, IF SUITABLE. IF THE GIFT CANNOT BE USED FOR TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, THE GIFT MAY BE USED FOR RESEARCH OR EDUCATION.

(e) IF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF ONE OR MORE SPECIFIC PARTS IS MADE IN A DOCUMENT OF GIFT THAT DOES NOT NAME A PERSON DESCRIBED IN SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION AND DOES NOT IDENTIFY THE PURPOSE OF THE GIFT, THE GIFT MAY BE USED ONLY FOR TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, AND THE GIFT PASSES IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUBSECTION (g) OF THIS SECTION.

(f) IF A DOCUMENT OF GIFT SPECIFIES ONLY A GENERAL INTENT TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT BY WORDS SUCH AS "DONOR", "ORGAN DONOR", OR "BODY DONOR", OR BY A SYMBOL OR STATEMENT OF SIMILAR IMPORT, THE GIFT MAY BE USED ONLY FOR TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, AND THE GIFT PASSES IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUBSECTION (g) OF THIS SECTION.

(g) FOR PURPOSES OF SUBSECTIONS (b), (e), AND (f) OF THIS SECTION THE FOLLOWING RULES APPLY:

(1) IF THE PART IS AN EYE, THE GIFT PASSES TO THE APPROPRIATE EYE BANK.

(2) IF THE PART IS TISSUE, THE GIFT PASSES TO THE APPROPRIATE TISSUE BANK.

(3) IF THE PART IS AN ORGAN, THE GIFT PASSES TO THE APPROPRIATE ORGAN

## PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION AS CUSTODIAN OF THE ORGAN.

(h) AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF AN ORGAN FOR TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, OTHER THAN AN ANATOMICAL GIFT UNDER PARAGRAPH (2) OF SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION, PASSES TO THE ORGAN PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION AS CUSTODIAN OF THE ORGAN.

(i) IF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT DOES NOT PASS PURSUANT TO SUBSECTIONS (a) THROUGH (h) OF THIS SECTION OR THE DECEDENT'S BODY OR PART IS NOT USED FOR TRANSPLANTATION, THERAPY, RESEARCH, OR EDUCATION, CUSTODY OF THE BODY OR PART PASSES TO THE PERSON UNDER OBLIGATION TO DISPOSE OF THE BODY OR PART.

(j) A PERSON MAY NOT ACCEPT AN ANATOMICAL GIFT IF THE PERSON KNOWS THAT THE GIFT WAS NOT EFFECTIVELY MADE UNDER SECTION 12-34-105 OR 12-34-110 OR IF THE PERSON KNOWS THAT THE DECEDENT MADE A REFUSAL UNDER SECTION 12-34-107 THAT WAS NOT REVOKED. FOR PURPOSES OF THIS SUBSECTION (j), IF A PERSON KNOWS THAT AN ANATOMICAL GIFT WAS MADE ON A DOCUMENT OF GIFT, THE PERSON IS DEEMED TO KNOW OF ANY AMENDMENT OR REVOCATION OF THE GIFT OR ANY REFUSAL TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT ON THE SAME DOCUMENT OF GIFT.

(k) EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN PARAGRAPH (2) OF SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION, NOTHING IN THIS PART 1 AFFECTS THE ALLOCATION OF ORGANS FOR TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY.

**12-34-112. Search and notification.** (Reserved)**12-34-113. Delivery of document of gift not required - right to examine.**

(a) A DOCUMENT OF GIFT NEED NOT BE DELIVERED DURING THE DONOR'S LIFETIME TO BE EFFECTIVE.

(b) UPON OR AFTER AN INDIVIDUAL'S DEATH, A PERSON IN POSSESSION OF A DOCUMENT OF GIFT OR A REFUSAL TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT WITH RESPECT TO THE INDIVIDUAL SHALL ALLOW EXAMINATION AND COPYING OF THE DOCUMENT OF GIFT OR REFUSAL BY A PERSON AUTHORIZED TO MAKE OR OBJECT TO THE MAKING OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT WITH RESPECT TO THE INDIVIDUAL OR BY A PERSON TO WHICH THE GIFT COULD PASS UNDER SECTION 12-34-111.

**12-34-114. Rights and duties of procurement organization and others.**

(a) WHEN A HOSPITAL REFERS AN INDIVIDUAL AT OR NEAR DEATH TO A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION, THE ORGANIZATION SHALL MAKE A REASONABLE SEARCH OF THE RECORDS OF THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AND ANY DONOR REGISTRY THAT IT KNOWS EXISTS FOR THE GEOGRAPHICAL AREA IN WHICH THE INDIVIDUAL RESIDES TO ASCERTAIN WHETHER THE INDIVIDUAL HAS MADE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT.

(b) A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION MUST BE ALLOWED REASONABLE ACCESS TO INFORMATION IN THE RECORDS OF THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE TO ASCERTAIN WHETHER AN INDIVIDUAL AT OR NEAR DEATH IS A DONOR.

(c) WHEN A HOSPITAL REFERS AN INDIVIDUAL AT OR NEAR DEATH TO A

PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION, THE ORGANIZATION MAY CONDUCT ANY REASONABLE EXAMINATION NECESSARY TO ENSURE THE MEDICAL SUITABILITY OF A PART THAT IS OR COULD BE THE SUBJECT OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT FOR TRANSPLANTATION, THERAPY, RESEARCH, OR EDUCATION FROM A DONOR OR A PROSPECTIVE DONOR. DURING THE EXAMINATION PERIOD, MEASURES NECESSARY TO ENSURE THE MEDICAL SUITABILITY OF THE PART MAY NOT BE WITHDRAWN UNLESS THE HOSPITAL OR PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION KNOWS THAT THE INDIVIDUAL EXPRESSED A CONTRARY INTENT.

(d) UNLESS PROHIBITED BY LAW OTHER THAN THIS PART 1, AT ANY TIME AFTER A DONOR'S DEATH, THE PERSON TO WHICH A PART PASSES UNDER SECTION 12-34-111 MAY CONDUCT ANY REASONABLE EXAMINATION NECESSARY TO ENSURE THE MEDICAL SUITABILITY OF THE BODY OR PART FOR ITS INTENDED PURPOSE.

(e) UNLESS PROHIBITED BY LAW OTHER THAN THIS PART 1, AN EXAMINATION UNDER SUBSECTION (c) OR (d) OF THIS SECTION MAY INCLUDE AN EXAMINATION OF ALL MEDICAL AND DENTAL RECORDS OF THE DONOR OR PROSPECTIVE DONOR.

(f) UPON THE DEATH OF A MINOR WHO WAS A DONOR OR HAD SIGNED A REFUSAL, UNLESS A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION KNOWS THE MINOR IS EMANCIPATED, THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION SHALL CONDUCT A REASONABLE SEARCH FOR THE PARENTS OF THE MINOR AND PROVIDE THE PARENTS WITH AN OPPORTUNITY TO REVOKE OR AMEND THE ANATOMICAL GIFT OR REVOKE THE REFUSAL.

(g) UPON REFERRAL BY A HOSPITAL UNDER SUBSECTION (a) OF THIS SECTION, A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION SHALL MAKE A REASONABLE SEARCH FOR ANY PERSON LISTED IN SECTION 12-34-109 HAVING PRIORITY TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT ON BEHALF OF A PROSPECTIVE DONOR. IF A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION RECEIVES INFORMATION THAT AN ANATOMICAL GIFT TO ANY OTHER PERSON WAS MADE, AMENDED, OR REVOKED, IT SHALL PROMPTLY ADVISE THE OTHER PERSON OF ALL RELEVANT INFORMATION.

(h) SUBJECT TO SECTIONS 12-34-111 (i) AND 12-34-123, THE RIGHTS OF THE PERSON TO WHICH A PART PASSES UNDER SECTION 12-34-111 ARE SUPERIOR TO THE RIGHTS OF ALL OTHERS WITH RESPECT TO THE PART. THE PERSON MAY ACCEPT OR REJECT AN ANATOMICAL GIFT IN WHOLE OR IN PART. SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF THE DOCUMENT OF GIFT AND THIS PART 1, A PERSON THAT ACCEPTS AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF AN ENTIRE BODY MAY ALLOW EMBALMING, BURIAL OR CREMATION, AND USE OF REMAINS IN A FUNERAL SERVICE. IF THE GIFT IS OF A PART, THE PERSON TO WHICH THE PART PASSES UNDER SECTION 12-34-111, UPON THE DEATH OF THE DONOR AND BEFORE EMBALMING, BURIAL, OR CREMATION, SHALL CAUSE THE PART TO BE REMOVED WITHOUT UNNECESSARY MUTILATION.

(i) NEITHER THE PHYSICIAN WHO ATTENDS THE DECEDENT AT DEATH NOR THE PHYSICIAN WHO DETERMINES THE TIME OF THE DECEDENT'S DEATH MAY PARTICIPATE IN THE PROCEDURES FOR REMOVING OR TRANSPLANTING A PART FROM THE DECEDENT.

(j) A PHYSICIAN OR TECHNICIAN MAY REMOVE A DONATED PART FROM THE BODY OF A DONOR THAT THE PHYSICIAN OR TECHNICIAN IS QUALIFIED TO REMOVE.

**12-34-115. Coordination of procurement and use.** EACH HOSPITAL IN THIS STATE SHALL ENTER INTO AGREEMENTS OR AFFILIATIONS WITH PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATIONS FOR COORDINATION OF PROCUREMENT AND USE OF ANATOMICAL GIFTS.

**12-34-116. Sale or purchase of parts prohibited.** (a) EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION (b) OF THIS SECTION, A PERSON THAT KNOWINGLY ACQUIRES, RECEIVES, OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERS A PART FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION FOR TRANSPLANTATION MAY BE LIABLE AS SPECIFIED IN 42 U.S.C. SEC. 274e.

(b) A PERSON MAY CHARGE A REASONABLE AMOUNT FOR THE REMOVAL, PROCESSING, PRESERVATION, QUALITY CONTROL, STORAGE, TRANSPORTATION, IMPLANTATION, OR DISPOSAL OF A PART.

**12-34-117. Other prohibited acts.** A PERSON THAT, IN ORDER TO OBTAIN A FINANCIAL GAIN, INTENTIONALLY FALSIFIES, FORGES, CONCEALS, DEFACES, OR OBLITERATES A DOCUMENT OF GIFT, AN AMENDMENT OR REVOCATION OF A DOCUMENT OF GIFT, OR A REFUSAL COMMITS A CLASS 1 MISDEMEANOR AS SPECIFIED IN SECTION 18-1.3-501, C.R.S.

**12-34-118. Immunity.** (a) A PERSON THAT ACTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS PART 1 OR WITH THE APPLICABLE ANATOMICAL GIFT LAW OF ANOTHER STATE, OR ATTEMPTS IN GOOD FAITH TO DO SO, IS NOT LIABLE FOR THE ACT IN A CIVIL ACTION, CRIMINAL PROSECUTION, OR ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING.

(b) NEITHER THE PERSON MAKING AN ANATOMICAL GIFT NOR THE DONOR'S ESTATE IS LIABLE FOR ANY INJURY OR DAMAGE THAT RESULTS FROM THE MAKING OR USE OF THE GIFT.

(c) IN DETERMINING WHETHER AN ANATOMICAL GIFT HAS BEEN MADE, AMENDED, OR REVOKED UNDER THIS PART 1, A PERSON MAY RELY UPON REPRESENTATIONS OF AN INDIVIDUAL LISTED IN SECTION 12-34-109 (a) (2), (a) (3), (a) (4), (a) (5), (a) (6), (a) (7), OR (a) (8) RELATING TO THE INDIVIDUAL'S RELATIONSHIP TO THE DONOR OR PROSPECTIVE DONOR UNLESS THE PERSON KNOWS THAT THE REPRESENTATION IS UNTRUE.

**12-34-119. Law governing validity - choice of law as to execution of document of gift - presumption of validity.** (a) A DOCUMENT OF GIFT IS VALID IF EXECUTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH:

(1) THIS PART 1;

(2) THE LAWS OF THE STATE OR COUNTRY WHERE IT WAS EXECUTED; OR

(3) THE LAWS OF THE STATE OR COUNTRY WHERE THE PERSON MAKING THE ANATOMICAL GIFT WAS DOMICILED, HAS A PLACE OF RESIDENCE, OR WAS A NATIONAL AT THE TIME THE DOCUMENT OF GIFT WAS EXECUTED.

(b) IF A DOCUMENT OF GIFT IS VALID UNDER THIS SECTION, THE LAW OF THIS STATE GOVERNS THE INTERPRETATION OF THE DOCUMENT OF GIFT.

(c) A PERSON MAY PRESUME THAT A DOCUMENT OF GIFT OR AMENDMENT OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT IS VALID UNLESS THAT PERSON KNOWS THAT IT WAS NOT VALIDLY EXECUTED OR WAS REVOKED.

**12-34-120. Donor registry.** (a) THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE MAY ESTABLISH OR CONTRACT FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A DONOR REGISTRY.

(b) THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE SHALL COOPERATE WITH A PERSON THAT ADMINISTERS ANY DONOR REGISTRY THAT THIS STATE ESTABLISHES, CONTRACTS FOR, OR RECOGNIZES FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSFERRING TO THE DONOR REGISTRY ALL RELEVANT INFORMATION REGARDING A DONOR'S MAKING, AMENDMENT TO, OR REVOCATION OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT.

(c) A DONOR REGISTRY MUST:

(1) ALLOW A DONOR OR OTHER PERSON AUTHORIZED UNDER SECTION 12-34-104 TO INCLUDE ON THE DONOR REGISTRY A STATEMENT OR SYMBOL THAT THE DONOR HAS MADE, AMENDED, OR REVOKED AN ANATOMICAL GIFT;

(2) BE ACCESSIBLE TO A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION TO ALLOW IT TO OBTAIN RELEVANT INFORMATION ON THE DONOR REGISTRY TO DETERMINE, AT OR NEAR DEATH OF THE DONOR OR A PROSPECTIVE DONOR, WHETHER THE DONOR OR PROSPECTIVE DONOR HAS MADE, AMENDED, OR REVOKED AN ANATOMICAL GIFT; AND

(3) BE ACCESSIBLE FOR PURPOSES OF PARAGRAPHS (1) AND (2) OF THIS SUBSECTION (c) SEVEN DAYS A WEEK ON A TWENTY-FOUR-HOUR BASIS.

(d) PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION ON A DONOR REGISTRY ABOUT A DONOR OR PROSPECTIVE DONOR MAY NOT BE USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT THE EXPRESS CONSENT OF THE DONOR, PROSPECTIVE DONOR, OR PERSON THAT MADE THE ANATOMICAL GIFT FOR ANY PURPOSE OTHER THAN TO DETERMINE, AT OR NEAR DEATH OF THE DONOR OR PROSPECTIVE DONOR, WHETHER THE DONOR OR PROSPECTIVE DONOR HAS MADE, AMENDED, OR REVOKED AN ANATOMICAL GIFT.

(e) THIS SECTION DOES NOT PROHIBIT ANY PERSON FROM CREATING OR MAINTAINING A DONOR REGISTRY THAT IS NOT ESTABLISHED BY OR UNDER CONTRACT WITH THE STATE. ANY SUCH REGISTRY MUST COMPLY WITH SUBSECTIONS (c) AND (d) OF THIS SECTION.

**12-34-121. Effect of anatomical gift on advance health-care directive.** (a) IN THIS SECTION:

(1) "ADVANCE HEALTH-CARE DIRECTIVE" MEANS A POWER OF ATTORNEY FOR HEALTH CARE OR A RECORD SIGNED OR AUTHORIZED BY A PROSPECTIVE DONOR CONTAINING THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR'S DIRECTION CONCERNING A HEALTH-CARE DECISION FOR THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR.

(2) "DECLARATION" MEANS A RECORD SIGNED BY A PROSPECTIVE DONOR SPECIFYING THE CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH A LIFE SUPPORT SYSTEM MAY BE WITHHELD OR WITHDRAWN FROM THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR.

(3) "HEALTH-CARE DECISION" MEANS ANY DECISION REGARDING THE HEALTH CARE OF THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR.

(b) IF A PROSPECTIVE DONOR HAS A DECLARATION OR HEALTH-CARE DIRECTIVE, AND THE TERMS OF THE DECLARATION OR DIRECTIVE AND THE EXPRESS OR IMPLIED TERMS OF A POTENTIAL ANATOMICAL GIFT ARE IN CONFLICT WITH REGARD TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF MEASURES NECESSARY TO ENSURE THE MEDICAL SUITABILITY OF A PART FOR TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR'S ATTENDING PHYSICIAN AND PROSPECTIVE DONOR SHALL CONFER TO RESOLVE THE CONFLICT. IF THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR IS INCAPABLE OF RESOLVING THE CONFLICT, AN AGENT ACTING UNDER THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR'S DECLARATION OR DIRECTIVE, OR, IF NONE OR THE AGENT IS NOT REASONABLY AVAILABLE, ANOTHER PERSON AUTHORIZED BY LAW OTHER THAN THIS ARTICLE TO MAKE HEALTH-CARE DECISIONS ON BEHALF OF THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR, SHALL ACT FOR THE DONOR TO RESOLVE THE CONFLICT. THE CONFLICT MUST BE RESOLVED AS EXPEDITIOUSLY AS POSSIBLE. INFORMATION RELEVANT TO THE RESOLUTION OF THE CONFLICT MAY BE OBTAINED FROM THE APPROPRIATE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION AND ANY OTHER PERSON AUTHORIZED TO MAKE AN ANATOMICAL GIFT FOR THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR UNDER SECTION 12-34-109. BEFORE RESOLUTION OF THE CONFLICT, MEASURES NECESSARY TO ENSURE THE MEDICAL SUITABILITY OF THE PART MAY NOT BE WITHHELD OR WITHDRAWN FROM THE PROSPECTIVE DONOR IF WITHHOLDING OR WITHDRAWING THE MEASURES IS NOT CONTRAINDICATED BY APPROPRIATE END-OF-LIFE CARE.

**12-34-122. Cooperation between coroner and procurement organization.**

(a) A CORONER SHALL COOPERATE WITH PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATIONS TO MAXIMIZE THE OPPORTUNITY TO RECOVER ANATOMICAL GIFTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY.

(b) SUBJECT TO SECTION 12-34-123, IF A CORONER RECEIVES NOTICE FROM A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION THAT AN ANATOMICAL GIFT MIGHT BE AVAILABLE OR WAS MADE WITH RESPECT TO A DECEDENT WHOSE BODY IS UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER AND A POST-MORTEM EXAMINATION IS GOING TO BE PERFORMED, THE CORONER OR DESIGNEE SHALL MAKE EVERY REASONABLE EFFORT TO CONDUCT A POST-MORTEM EXAMINATION OF THE BODY OR THE PART IN A MANNER AND WITHIN A PERIOD COMPATIBLE WITH ITS PRESERVATION FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE GIFT AND THE MEDICOLEGAL DEATH INVESTIGATION.

(c) A PART MAY NOT BE REMOVED FROM THE BODY OF A DECEDENT UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF A CORONER FOR TRANSPLANTATION, THERAPY, RESEARCH, OR EDUCATION UNLESS THE PART IS THE SUBJECT OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT. THE BODY OF A DECEDENT UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER MAY NOT BE DELIVERED TO A PERSON FOR RESEARCH OR EDUCATION UNLESS THE BODY IS THE SUBJECT OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT. THIS SUBSECTION (c) DOES NOT PRECLUDE A CORONER FROM PERFORMING THE MEDICOLEGAL INVESTIGATION UPON THE BODY OR PARTS OF A DECEDENT UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER.

**12-34-123. Facilitation of anatomical gift from decedent whose body is under jurisdiction of coroner.** (a) UPON REQUEST OF A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION, A CORONER SHALL RELEASE TO THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION THE NAME, CONTACT INFORMATION, AND AVAILABLE MEDICAL AND SOCIAL HISTORY OF A DECEDENT WHOSE BODY IS UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER. IF THE

DECEDENT'S BODY OR PART IS MEDICALLY SUITABLE FOR TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY, THE CORONER SHALL RELEASE POST-MORTEM EXAMINATION RESULTS TO THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION. THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION MAY MAKE A SUBSEQUENT DISCLOSURE OF THE POST-MORTEM EXAMINATION RESULTS OR OTHER INFORMATION RECEIVED FROM THE CORONER ONLY IF RELEVANT TO TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY.

(b) THE CORONER MAY CONDUCT A MEDICOLEGAL EXAMINATION BY REVIEWING ALL MEDICAL RECORDS, LABORATORY TEST RESULTS, X-RAYS, OTHER DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS, AND OTHER INFORMATION THAT ANY PERSON POSSESSES ABOUT A DONOR OR PROSPECTIVE DONOR WHOSE BODY IS UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER WHICH THE CORONER DETERMINES MAY BE RELEVANT TO THE INVESTIGATION.

(c) A PERSON THAT HAS ANY INFORMATION REQUESTED BY A CORONER PURSUANT TO SUBSECTION (b) OF THIS SECTION SHALL PROVIDE THAT INFORMATION AS EXPEDITIOUSLY AS POSSIBLE TO ALLOW THE CORONER TO CONDUCT THE MEDICOLEGAL INVESTIGATION WITHIN A PERIOD COMPATIBLE WITH THE PRESERVATION OF PARTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY.

(d) IF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT HAS BEEN OR MIGHT BE MADE OF A PART OF A DECEDENT WHOSE BODY IS UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER AND A POST-MORTEM EXAMINATION IS NOT REQUIRED, OR THE CORONER DETERMINES THAT A POST-MORTEM EXAMINATION IS REQUIRED BUT THAT THE RECOVERY OF THE PART THAT IS THE SUBJECT OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT WILL NOT INTERFERE WITH THE EXAMINATION, THE CORONER AND PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION SHALL COOPERATE IN THE TIMELY REMOVAL OF THE PART FROM THE DECEDENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY.

(e) IF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF A PART FROM THE DECEDENT UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER HAS BEEN OR MIGHT BE MADE, BUT THE CORONER INITIALLY BELIEVES THAT THE RECOVERY OF THE PART COULD INTERFERE WITH THE POST-MORTEM INVESTIGATION INTO THE DECEDENT'S CAUSE OR MANNER OF DEATH OR PRESERVATION OR COLLECTION OF EVIDENCE, THE CORONER SHALL CONSULT WITH THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION OR PHYSICIAN OR TECHNICIAN DESIGNATED BY THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION ABOUT THE PROPOSED RECOVERY. THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION SHALL OBTAIN AND PROVIDE THE CORONER WITH ALL AVAILABLE INFORMATION WHICH COULD RELATE TO THE CAUSE OR MANNER OF THE DECEDENT'S DEATH. AFTER CONSULTATION, THE CORONER MAY ALLOW THE RECOVERY, OR MAY DENY OR DELAY THE RECOVERY AS PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION (f), (g), OR (h) OF THIS SECTION.

(f) THE CORONER, DISTRICT ATTORNEY, AND A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION SHALL ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT ESTABLISHING PROTOCOLS AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING THE RELATIONS BETWEEN THEM WHEN AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF A PART FROM A DECEDENT WHOSE BODY IS UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER HAS BEEN OR MIGHT BE MADE BUT THE CORONER OR THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY BELIEVES THAT THE RECOVERY OF THE PART COULD INTERFERE WITH THE POST-MORTEM INVESTIGATION INTO THE DECEDENT'S CAUSE OR MANNER OF DEATH OR THE DOCUMENTATION OR PRESERVATION OF EVIDENCE. DECISIONS REGARDING THE RECOVERY OF THE PART FROM THE DECEDENT SHALL BE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AGREEMENT. THE CORONER, DISTRICT ATTORNEY, AND PROCUREMENT

ORGANIZATION SHALL EVALUATE THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AGREEMENT AT REGULAR INTERVALS BUT NO LESS FREQUENTLY THAN EVERY TWO YEARS.

(g) IN THE ABSENCE OF AN AGREEMENT AS PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION (f) OF THIS SECTION THAT ESTABLISHES PROTOCOLS AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING THE RELATIONS BETWEEN THE CORONER, DISTRICT ATTORNEY, AND PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION WHEN AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF AN ORGAN FROM A DECEDENT WHOSE BODY IS UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER HAS BEEN OR MIGHT BE MADE, AND FOLLOWING THE CONSULTATION UNDER SUBSECTION (e) OF THIS SECTION, IF THE CORONER INTENDS TO DENY RECOVERY OF THE ORGAN, THE CORONER OR DESIGNEE, AT THE REQUEST OF THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION, SHALL VIEW THE BODY EITHER AT THE HOSPITAL OR RECOVERY LOCATION OR BY ELECTRONIC MEANS, PRIOR TO MAKING A DECISION WHETHER OR NOT TO ALLOW THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION TO RECOVER THE ORGAN. AFTER VIEWING THE BODY, THE CORONER OR DESIGNEE MAY ALLOW RECOVERY BY THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION TO PROCEED, OR, IF THE CORONER OR DESIGNEE REASONABLY BELIEVES THAT THE PART MAY BE INVOLVED IN DETERMINING THE DECEDENT'S CAUSE OR MANNER OF DEATH OR PRESERVATION OR COLLECTION OF EVIDENCE, DENY RECOVERY BY THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION. THE CORONER OR DESIGNEE SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS SECTION IN A MANNER AND WITHIN A TIME PERIOD COMPATIBLE WITH THE PRESERVATION AND PURPOSES OF THE ORGAN.

(h) IN THE ABSENCE OF AN AGREEMENT ESTABLISHING PROTOCOLS AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING THE RELATIONS BETWEEN THE CORONER, DISTRICT ATTORNEY, AND PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION WHEN AN ANATOMICAL GIFT OF AN EYE OR TISSUES FROM A DECEDENT WHOSE BODY IS UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORONER HAS BEEN OR MIGHT BE MADE, AND FOLLOWING THE CONSULTATION UNDER SUBSECTION (e) OF THIS SECTION, THE CORONER MAY ALLOW, DENY, OR DELAY THE RECOVERY OF THE EYE OR TISSUES UNTIL AFTER THE COLLECTION OF EVIDENCE OR AUTOPSY, IN ORDER TO PRESERVE AND COLLECT EVIDENCE, TO MAINTAIN A PROPER CHAIN-OF-CUSTODY, OR TO ALLOW AN ACCURATE DETERMINATION OF THE DECEDENT'S CAUSE OF DEATH. WHEN A DETERMINATION TO DELAY THE RECOVERY OF THE EYE OR TISSUES IS MADE, EVERY EFFORT POSSIBLE SHALL BE MADE BY THE CORONER TO COMPLETE THE COLLECTION OF EVIDENCE OR AUTOPSY IN A TIMELY MANNER COMPATIBLE WITH THE PRESERVATION OF THE EYE OR TISSUES FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSPLANTATION OR THERAPY.

(i) IF THE CORONER OR DESIGNEE DENIES OR DELAYS RECOVERY UNDER SUBSECTION (f), (g), OR (h) OF THIS SECTION, THE CORONER OR DESIGNEE SHALL:

(1) STATE IN A RECORD THE SPECIFIC REASONS FOR NOT ALLOWING RECOVERY OF THE PART;

(2) INCLUDE THE SPECIFIC REASONS IN THE RECORDS OF THE CORONER; AND

(3) UPON REQUEST BY A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION, PROVIDE A RECORD WITHIN TWO WEEKS OF THE DATE OF THE REQUEST WITH THE SPECIFIC REASONS FOR NOT ALLOWING RECOVERY OF THE PART.

(j) IF THE CORONER OR DESIGNEE ALLOWS RECOVERY OF A PART, IN ADDITION TO ANY INFORMATION REQUIRED PURSUANT TO THE PROTOCOL UNDER SUBSECTION (f)

OF THIS SECTION, THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION SHALL COOPERATE WITH THE CORONER IN ANY DOCUMENTATION OF INJURIES AND THE PRESERVATION AND COLLECTION OF EVIDENCE PRIOR TO AND DURING THE RECOVERY OF THE PART AND, UPON THE CORONER'S REQUEST, SHALL CAUSE THE PHYSICIAN OR TECHNICIAN WHO REMOVES THE PART TO PROVIDE THE CORONER, AS SOON AS PRACTICABLE, WITH A RECORD THAT INCLUDES: THE NAMES OF ALL PERSONNEL PARTICIPATING IN THE REMOVAL OF THE PART; A REPORT DOCUMENTING ANY INTERNAL OR EXTERNAL INJURIES OBSERVED, ANY EVIDENCE OBSERVED, AND DESCRIBING THE CONDITION OF THE PART; PHOTOGRAPHS OR OTHER DOCUMENTATION OF EVIDENCE AS IDENTIFIED IN THE PROTOCOL; AND ANY OTHER INFORMATION AND OBSERVATIONS THAT WOULD ASSIST IN THE POST MORTEM.

(k) IF A CORONER OR DESIGNEE IS REQUIRED TO BE PRESENT TO VIEW THE BODY AT THE HOSPITAL OR RECOVERY LOCATION UNDER SUBSECTION (g) OF THIS SECTION, UPON REQUEST THE PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION REQUESTING THE RECOVERY OF THE PART SHALL REIMBURSE THE CORONER OR DESIGNEE FOR THE REASONABLE ADDITIONAL COST OF TRAVEL INCURRED IN COMPLYING WITH SUBSECTION (g) OF THIS SECTION.

**12-34-124. Uniformity of application and construction.** IN APPLYING AND CONSTRUING THIS PART 1, CONSIDERATION MUST BE GIVEN TO THE NEED TO PROMOTE UNIFORMITY OF THE LAW WITH RESPECT TO ITS SUBJECT MATTER AMONG STATES THAT ENACT IT.

**12-34-125. Relation to "Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act".** THIS ACT MODIFIES, LIMITS, AND SUPERSEDES THE "ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES IN GLOBAL AND NATIONAL COMMERCE ACT", 15 U.S.C. SEC. 7001 ET SEQ., BUT DOES NOT MODIFY, LIMIT, OR SUPERSEDE SECTION 101 (a) OF THAT ACT, 15 U.S.C. SEC. 7001, OR AUTHORIZE ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF ANY OF THE NOTICES DESCRIBED IN SECTION 103 (b) OF THAT ACT, 15 U.S.C. SEC. 7003 (b).

**SECTION 2.** 13-22-103 (1), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**13-22-103. Minors - consent for medical, dental, and related care.**  
 (1) Except as otherwise provided in sections 18-1.3-407 (4.5), 18-6-101, 25-4-402, and ~~12-34-103 (1)~~ 12-34-104, C.R.S., a minor eighteen years of age or older, or a minor fifteen years of age or older who is living separate and apart from his or her parent, parents, or legal guardian, with or without the consent of his or her parent, parents, or legal guardian, and is managing his or her own financial affairs, regardless of the source of his or her income, or any minor who has contracted a lawful marriage may give consent to organ or tissue donation or the furnishing of hospital, medical, dental, emergency health, and surgical care to himself or herself. Such consent shall not be subject to disaffirmance because of minority, and, when such consent is given, said minor shall have the same rights, powers, and obligations as if he or she had obtained majority. Consent to organ or tissue donation may be revoked pursuant to section ~~12-34-107~~ 12-34-106, C.R.S.

**SECTION 3.** 15-14-506 (3.5), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**15-14-506. Medical durable power of attorney.** (3.5) Any medical durable power of attorney executed under sections 15-14-503 to 15-14-509 may also have

a document with a written statement as provided in section 12-34-105 ~~(1)(c)~~ (b), C.R.S., or a statement in substantially similar form, indicating a decision regarding organ and tissue donation. Such a document shall be executed in accordance with the provisions of the "Uniform" REVISIED UNIFORM Anatomical Gift Act", PART 1 OF article 34 of title 12, C.R.S. Such a written statement may be in the following form:

I hereby make an anatomical gift, to be effective upon my death, of:

- A.  Any needed organs/tissues
- B.  The following organs/tissues:

Donor signature: \_\_\_\_\_

**SECTION 4.** 15-14-603 (3) (b), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**15-14-603. Applicability.** (3) (b) Any durable power of attorney executed under this part 6 may also have a document with a written statement as provided in section 12-34-105 ~~(1)(c)~~ (b), C.R.S., or a statement in substantially similar form, indicating a decision regarding organ and tissue donation. Such a document shall be executed in accordance with the provisions of the "Uniform" REVISIED UNIFORM Anatomical Gift Act", PART 1 OF article 34 of title 12, C.R.S. Such a written statement may be in the following form:

I hereby make an anatomical gift, to be effective upon my death, of:

- A.  Any needed organs/tissues
- B.  The following organs/tissues:

Donor signature: \_\_\_\_\_

**SECTION 5.** 15-18-104 (4), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**15-18-104. Declaration as to medical treatment.** (4) Any declaration made pursuant to subsection (3) of this section may also have a document with a written statement as provided in section 12-34-105 ~~(1)(c)~~ (b), C.R.S., or a written statement in substantially similar form, indicating a decision regarding organ and tissue donation. Such a document shall be executed in accordance with the provisions of the "Uniform" REVISIED UNIFORM Anatomical Gift Act", PART 1 OF article 34 of title 12, C.R.S. Such a written statement may be in the following form:

I hereby make an anatomical gift, to be effective upon my death, of:

- A.  Any needed organs/tissues
- B.  The following organs/tissues:

Donor signature: \_\_\_\_\_

**SECTION 6.** 15-18.6-103 (2) (i), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**15-18.6-103. CPR directive forms - duties of state board of health.** (2) CPR

directive protocols to be adopted by the state board shall require the following information concerning the person who is the subject of the CPR directive:

(i) The person's directive in the form of a document with a written statement as provided in section 12-34-105 ~~(1)(c)~~ (b), C.R.S., or a statement in substantially similar form, indicating a decision regarding tissue donation. Such a document shall be executed in accordance with the provisions of the ~~"Uniform"~~ REVISED UNIFORM Anatomical Gift Act", PART 1 OF article 34 of title 12, C.R.S. Such a written statement may be in the following form:

I hereby make an anatomical gift, to be effective upon my death, of:

- A.  Any needed tissues
- B.  The following tissues:
  - Skin
  - Cornea
  - Bone, related tissues, and tendons

Donor signature: \_\_\_\_\_

**SECTION 7.** 19-1-307 (2) (c), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**19-1-307. Dependency and neglect records and information - access - fee - records and reports fund - misuse of information - penalty.** (2) **Records and reports - access to certain persons - agencies.** Except as otherwise provided in section 19-1-303, only the following persons or agencies shall be given access to child abuse or neglect records and reports:

(c) An agency having the legal responsibility or authorization to care for, treat, or supervise a child who is the subject of a report or record or a parent, guardian, legal custodian, or other person who is responsible for the child's health or welfare, INCLUDING, IN THE CASE OF AN ANATOMICAL GIFT, A CORONER AND A PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION, AS THOSE TERMS ARE DEFINED IN SECTION 12-34-102, C.R.S.;

**SECTION 8.** 24-72-204 (7) (b) (XV), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**24-72-204. Allowance or denial of inspection - grounds - procedure - appeal - definitions.** (7) (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (a) of this subsection (7), only upon obtaining a completed requestor release form under section 42-1-206 (1) (b), C.R.S., the department may allow inspection of the information referred to in paragraph (a) of this subsection (7) for the following uses:

(XV) For use by the federally designated organ procurement ~~agency~~ ORGANIZATION for the purposes of creating and maintaining the organ and tissue donor registry ~~created~~ AUTHORIZED in section ~~12-34-110~~ 12-34-120, C.R.S.

**SECTION 9.** 39-22-2701, Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**39-22-2701. Legislative declaration.** (1) The general assembly hereby finds and declares that:

(a) The availability of human organs and tissue by voluntary designation of donors under the ~~"Uniform"~~ "REVISED UNIFORM Anatomical Gift Act", part 1 of article 34 of title 12, C.R.S., is critical for advancements in medical science to occur and for the successful use of various medical treatments to save and prolong lives.

(b) The state should play a role in increasing the availability of human organs and tissue to procurement ~~agencies~~ ORGANIZATIONS, as defined in section 12-34-102, ~~(7-5)~~; C.R.S., by acting as a conduit to make moneys available for promoting organ and tissue donation through the voluntary contribution program established in this part 27.

**SECTION 10.** 42-2-107 (4) (b) (I), (4) (b) (III) (C), (4) (b) (III) (D), and (4) (b) (V), Colorado Revised Statutes, are amended to read:

**42-2-107. Application for license or instruction permit - anatomical gifts - donations to organ and tissue donation awareness fund - legislative declaration - repeal.** (4) (b) (I) (A) The general assembly hereby finds, determines, and declares that the availability of human organs and tissue by voluntary designation of donors under the provisions of the ~~"Uniform"~~ "REVISED UNIFORM Anatomical Gift Act", part 1 of article 34 of title 12, C.R.S., is critical for advancements in medical science to occur and for the successful use of various medical treatments to save and prolong lives.

(B) The general assembly further finds, determines, and declares that state government should play a role in increasing the availability of human organs and tissue to procurement ~~agencies~~ ORGANIZATIONS, as defined in section 12-34-102, ~~(7-5)~~; C.R.S., by acting as a conduit to make moneys available for promoting organ and tissue donation, and that this role constitutes a public purpose.

(III) At least quarterly, the state treasurer shall transfer all available moneys from the organ and tissue donation awareness fund:

(C) Before any payment to transplant council of the rockies (TCOR) from the organ and tissue donor awareness fund may be made for any purpose, to the department of revenue for the reasonable costs associated with the initial installation of the organ and tissue donor registry, the setup for electronic transfer of the donor information for the organ and tissue donor registry to the federally designated organ procurement ~~agency~~ ORGANIZATION, computer programming and form changes necessary as a result of the creation of the organ and tissue donor registry, and the tracking and reporting of moneys designated as contributions to the fund pursuant to section 39-22-2702, C.R.S.

(D) To the transplant council of the rockies (TCOR) for the costs associated with educating the public about the organ and tissue donor registry pursuant to section ~~12-34-110~~ 12-34-120, C.R.S.

(V) An applicant may make a donation of one dollar or more to the organ and tissue donation awareness fund, created in subparagraph (II) of this paragraph (b), to promote the donation of organs and tissues under the provisions of the ~~"Uniform"~~ "REVISED UNIFORM Anatomical Gift Act", part 1 of article 34 of title 12, C.R.S. The department shall collect such donations and transmit them to the state treasurer,

who shall credit the same to the organ and tissue donation awareness fund. The donation prescribed in this subparagraph (V) is voluntary and may be refused by the applicant. The department shall make available informational booklets or other informational sources on the importance of organ and tissue donations to applicants as designed and approved by the advisory body created under sub-subparagraph (A) of subparagraph (III) of this paragraph (b). The department shall inquire of each applicant at the time the completed application is presented whether the applicant is interested in making a donation of one dollar or more and shall also specifically inform the applicant of the option for organ and tissue donations. The department shall also provide written information designed and approved by the advisory body created under sub-subparagraph (A) of subparagraph (III) of this paragraph (b) to each applicant volunteering to become an organ and tissue donor. The written information shall disclose that the applicant's name shall be transmitted to the organ and tissue donor registry ~~created~~ AUTHORIZED in section ~~12-34-110~~ 12-34-120, C.R.S., and that the applicant shall notify the federally designated organ procurement ~~agency~~ ORGANIZATION of any changes to the applicant's donor status.

**SECTION 11.** 42-2-118 (1) (a) (II) (A), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**42-2-118. Renewal of license in person or by mail - donations to organ and tissue donation awareness fund - repeal.** (1) (a) (II) (A) An applicant may make a donation of one dollar or more to the organ and tissue donation awareness fund, created in section 42-2-107 (4) (b) (II), to promote the donation of organs and tissues under the provisions of the ~~Uniform~~ "REVISED UNIFORM Anatomical Gift Act", part 1 of article 34 of title 12, C.R.S. The department shall collect such donations and transmit them to the state treasurer, who shall credit the same to the organ and tissue donation awareness fund. The donation prescribed in this sub-subparagraph (A) is voluntary and may be refused by the applicant. The department shall make available informational booklets or other informational sources on the importance of organ and tissue donations to applicants as designed and approved by the advisory body created under section 42-2-107 (4) (b) (III) (A). The department shall inquire of each applicant at the time the completed application is presented whether the applicant is interested in making a donation of one dollar or more and shall also specifically inform the applicant of the option for organ and tissue donations by having a "Y" placed in the donor field on the front of the document. The department shall also advise each applicant volunteering to become an organ and tissue donor that the applicant's name shall be transmitted to the organ and tissue donor registry ~~created~~ AUTHORIZED in section ~~12-34-110~~ 12-34-120, C.R.S., and that the applicant shall notify the federally designated organ procurement ~~agency~~ ORGANIZATION of any changes to the applicant's donation.

**SECTION 12.** 42-2-121 (6), Colorado Revised Statutes, is amended to read:

**42-2-121. Records to be kept by the department - admission of records in court.** (6) The department shall electronically transmit the name, address, telephone number, date of birth, and gender of each individual who has volunteered to donate organs or tissue upon death on an instructional permit, a minor driver's license, a driver's license, an identification card, or any other license application received by it to the organ and tissue donor registry ~~created~~ AUTHORIZED in section ~~12-34-110~~ 12-34-120, C.R.S.

**SECTION 13. Effective date - applicability.** This act shall take effect July 1, 2007, and shall apply to anatomical gifts, revocations, and refusals occurring on or after said date.

**SECTION 14. Safety clause.** The general assembly hereby finds, determines, and declares that this act is necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, and safety.

Approved: May 14, 2007